FILED Court of Appeals Division I State of Washington 5/30/2018 3:17 PM

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

Supreme Court No. 95921-8

(Court of Appeals Cause No. 75847-1-I)

LUCAS PRICE,

Petitioner,

v.

DANIEL PRICE,

Respondent.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

One Union Square 600 University St., 27th Fl. Seattle, WA 98101-3143 (206) 467-1816 McNAUL EBEL NAWROT & HELGREN PLLC Gregory J. Hollon, WSBA No. 26311 Malaika M. Eaton, WSBA No. 32837 Curtis C. Isacke, WSBA No. 49303 Attorneys for Petitioner Lucas Price

III.	INTRODUCTION		
IV.	ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW		
V.	STATEMENT OF THE CASE		
	A.	Daniel Admittedly Violates His Contractual and Fiduciary Duties, Leaving Lucas No Choice But to Sue	
	B.	The Trial Court Erroneously and Unconstitutionally Strikes Lucas's Jury Demand	
	C.	The Trial Court Denies Lucas Any Relief Even Though the Undisputed Evidence and Some of the Trial Court's Own Findings of Fact Required Judgment for Lucas	
	D.	The Decision Affirms the Trial Court's Order Striking the Jury and Its Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law	
VI.	ARGU	MENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE GRANTED 13	
	A.	Standard for Discretionary Review	
	B.	The Decision Violates Lucas Price's Right to a Jury Trial under this Court's Precedent in <i>Brown</i> , Warranting Review under RAP 13.4(b)(1)	
	C.	The Availability of a Jury Trial to a Plaintiff Stating Legal Claims is a Constitutional Question of Significant Importance to the Public, Justifying Review under RAP 13.4(b)(3) and (4)	

	D.	The Decision's Refusal to Afford a Remedy for		
		Daniel's Admitted Breaches of Fiduciary Duty and		
		Contract Justifies Review under RAP 13.4(b)(1)		
		and (2)	18	
VII.	CON	CLUSION	20	

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

Page
Cases
Allard v. Pac. Nat. Bank, 99 Wn.2d 394, 663 P.2d 104 (1983)
Angelopoulos v. Keystone Orthopedic Specialists, S.C., 12-CV-5836, 2017 WL 2215038 (N.D. Ill. May 19, 2017)
Auburn Mech., Inc. v. Lydig Const., Inc., 89 Wn. App. 893, 951 P.2d 311 (1998) 15
Beacon Theatres, Inc. v. Westover, 359 U.S. 500, 79 S. Ct. 948 (1959)
<i>Brown v. Safeway Stores</i> , 94 Wn.2d 359, P.2d 704 (1980)
Dairy Queen, Inc. v. Wood, 369 U.S. 469, 82 S. Ct. 894 (1962)
Davis v. Cox, 183 Wn.2d 269, 351 P.3d 862 (2015)
Dep't of Nat. Res. State of Wash. v. Littlejohn Logging, Inc., 60 Wn. App. 671, 806 P.2d 779 (1991) 15
Interlake Porsche & Audi, Inc. v. Bucholz, 45 Wn. App. 502, 728 P.2d 597 (1986)
Kane v. Klos, 50 Wn.2d 778, 314 P.2d 672 (1957)
Kelly v. Foster, 62 Wn. App. 150, 813 P.2d 598 (1991)
Nakata v. Blue Bird, Inc., 146 Wn. App. 267, 191 P.3d 900 (2008)
S.P.C.S., Inc. v. Lockheed Shipbuilding & Const. Co., 29 Wn. App. 930, 631 P.2d 999 (1981)

Safeco Ins. Co. of Am. v. Butler, 118 Wn.2d 383, 823 P.2d 499 (1992)
Sitton v. State Farm Mut. Auto. Ins. Co., 116 Wn. App. 245, 63 P.3d 198 (2003)
Sofie v. Fibreboard Corp., 112 Wn.2d 636, 771 P.2d 711 (1989)
State ex rel. Cherry v. Burns, 258 Neb. 216, 602 N.W.2d 477 (1999)
Rules
RAP 13.4(b)
RAP 13.4(b)(1)
RAP 13.4(b)(2)
RAP 13.4(b)(3)
RAP 13.4(b)(4)
Other Authorities
9 Fed. Prac. & Proc. Civ. § 2302.1 (3d ed.)
27 Williston on Contracts § 70:13 (4th ed.)
Eric J. Hamilton, Federalism and the State Civil Jury Rights, 65 Stan. L. Rev. 851 (2013)
Constitutions
WASH. CONST. art. I, § 21

I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Plaintiff/Appellant Lucas Price ("Lucas") is the Petitioner.

II. CITATION TO COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Lucas seeks review of the April 30, 2018, unpublished decision (the "Decision") of the Court of Appeals, Division 1 ("Court of Appeals"), affirming (1) the trial court's order striking Lucas's jury demand and (2) the trial court's findings of fact and conclusions of law. The Decision is attached hereto as **Appendix A**, and cited herein as "Op." ¹

III. INTRODUCTION

This lawsuit arose from the self-interested actions of Defendant/Respondent Daniel Price ("Daniel") and his disloyal treatment of his brother Lucas while acting as the majority shareholder, controlling director, and chief executive of Gravity Payments, a closely held company co-founded and co-owned by the brothers. Among other things, Lucas objected to Daniel's improper use of company funds for personal expenses and outsized executive compensation. *See* RP 265:10-266:10 (6/1). Lucas also challenged Daniel's taking of a stock award that diluted Lucas's share of the company. RP 365:3-371:2 (6/1); *see* RP 253:24-254:16, 256:2-257:21 (6/1). In response, Daniel increasingly marginalized and excluded

¹ Appellant's *Corrected* Brief is cited herein as "App. Br." And Appellant's Reply Brief is cited as "Reply Br." Respondent's Brief is cited as "Resp. Br." The Appendix to Appellant's *Corrected* Brief is cited as "App." The Report of Proceedings is cited as "RP." The Clerks Papers are cited as "CP." The Designation of Trial Exhibits is cited as "Ex."

Lucas, whom Daniel deemed a "cancer" to the company. Ex. 9.

Ultimately, Lucas filed a complaint and jury demand alleging three operative causes of action. CP 3-4, 11.² Two of the causes of action—breach of contract and of fiduciary duty—were legal in nature and remedy, seeking damages caused by Daniel's actions. CP 3-4. *Infra* § VI.B. The third cause of action—minority shareholder oppression—presented as a mixed legal and equitable claim because Lucas sought direct damages and asked the court to consider a compelled minority shareholder buyout.

On the eve of trial, Daniel asked the court to strike the jury, arguing (1) the breach of contract and breach of fiduciary duty claims were not operative, independent legal claims, (2) the lawsuit "primarily" sought the equitable remedy of a forced buyout because the monetary value of that remedy exceeded the other claims, (3) the equitable and legal issues could not easily be separated, and (4) the equitable issues would affect the orderly determination of legal issues. CP 11, 346, 385. Daniel's analysis was wrong on each point, mischaracterizing the facts and misapplying Washington law. CP 368; App. Br. 27-28, 35-41. In fact, the only genuine issue to be resolved under *Brown v. Safeway Stores*, 94 Wn.2d 359, 617 P.2d 704 (1980), was how to handle the equitable relief of

² The original complaint actually stated four causes of action, but one was dismissed by the trial court at summary judgment when all parties agreed that the "cause of action" was a remedy rather than a standalone cause of action. CP 324-26.

a minority shareholder buyout. On that issue, Lucas proposed the readily apparent answer: The jury would resolve the legal claims, and then the trial judge—informed by the jury's findings—would decide the requested buyout remedy after dismissing the jury. CP 377.

The trial court erred when it adopted Daniel's flawed reasoning and struck the jury. App. 129-33. It ignored the constitutional imperatives that the jury trial right is (1) "deserving of the highest protection" and (2) strongest in "guarantee[ing]" a jury "to determine the amount of damages in a civil case." *Sofie v. Fibreboard Corp.*, 112 Wn.2d 636, 656, 771 P.2d 711 (1989). The court also cast aside the rules stated in *Brown* that (1) "great weight should be given to the constitutional right of trial by jury and if the nature of the action is doubtful, a jury trial should be allowed" and (2) the court should "determin[e] . . . whether or not a jury trial should be granted on all *or part* of such issues." 94 Wn.2d at 368 (emphasis added).

On appeal, the Court of Appeals correctly recognized that the trial court committed a key analytical error in applying the *Brown* factors:

Lucas's breach of contract and breach of fiduciary duty claims were, as

Lucas argued below, direct legal claims for millions of dollars in damages.

Op. 5. Having recognized the trial court's legal analysis was improper, it was incumbent on the Court of Appeals to either remand or re-weigh the

Brown factors. It did neither. Instead, the Court of Appeals superficially concluded that the trial court did not abuse its discretion by finding that the equitable claim "predominated." In doing so, the Court of Appeals apparently fell into the same trap as the trial court: It set aside a rigorous Brown analysis (particularly factors six and seven), and instead focused on whether the equitable remedy sought by Lucas was larger in dollar value than Lucas's damages claims. See Op. 5-7. The Constitution and Brown require more. To afford the jury trial right the "highest protection," this Court must intervene.

Additionally, over the course of the eleven-day bench trial, Lucas presented unrebutted evidence of Daniel's liability for abuse of his fiduciary position. For example. Daniel admitted during examination that he used the company to fund at least tens of thousands of dollars-worth of personal expenses. RP 200:3-7 (6/1). Those admissions—which were supported by myriad other evidence at trial (*infra* § V.A)—establish a breach of fiduciary duty and contract, for which remedy is due. *Interlake Porsche & Audi, Inc. v. Bucholz*, 45 Wn. App. 502, 511-12, 728 P.2d 597 (1986). The law is also clear that Daniel's admissions entitle Lucas to an accounting of Daniel's use of company funds to discern further proper from improper expenses. *Id.* Yet, the courts have denied Lucas such relief. The Supreme Court must intervene to correct these errors too.

IV. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1. Did the Court of Appeals err in affirming the trial court's decision to deprive Lucas of his jury trial right on his multi-million dollar legal claims where Lucas's request for equitable relief could have been determined by the court after a jury resolved the legal claims?
- 2. Does the Court of Appeals' application of the *Brown* factors to deny Lucas's jury trial right on these facts require this Court to clarify and restate this essential constitutional standard?
- 3. Does the Court of Appeals' denial of relief for admitted and unrebutted breaches of fiduciary duty and contract require reversal?

V. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Daniel Admittedly Violates His Contractual and Fiduciary Duties, Leaving Lucas No Choice But to Sue

In 2004, Lucas and his brother Daniel formed a merchant services and credit card processing company called Gravity Payments. The brothers originally operated the company as partners. RP 239:9-25 (6/1). Yet, over time, that equilibrium broke down. *See* Ex 9. Daniel pushed for and attained control over day-to-day management (Ex 502; RP 243:10-244:1 (6/1)), and Lucas stepped back (RP 246:7-21 (6/1)).

On May 28, 2008, the brothers reorganized their relationship and the structure of the company through a series of interconnected agreements, including an Employment Agreement for Daniel ("Employment Agreement") (Ex 10) and a Shareholders Agreement between Lucas and Daniel ("Shareholders Agreement") (App. 1), which incorporated the Employment Agreement. It is undisputed that, through these agreements, Lucas gave up a share of his ownership and day-to-day management at the company in return for a modest cash buyout and certain corporate and contractual protections. Daniel obtained managerial control and majority ownership of the company, but also assumed the duties of a controlling officer and shareholder.

The Shareholders Agreement protected Lucas's minority shareholder rights in a number of ways. First, it limited Daniel's right to issue himself stock compensation except in the case of extraordinary company growth. App. 29-30 ¶ 6.4.1. Before a stock award could be granted, the Shareholders Agreement required a "valuation" by an appraiser to "determine fair market value" "as of the close of each business year" to prove the extraordinary growth.

Second, by incorporating the Employment Agreement (App. 36 \P 7.16), the Shareholders Agreement required Daniel to use company funds "solely for authorized business expenses of Gravity." Ex 10 \P 5.1. Daniel admitted that this meant that expenses were compensable only if they met IRS Guidelines. CP 1733-34.

For a period of several years, the brothers cooperated in relative

harmony under the new agreements: there were disagreements, but not discord. Yet, by August 2012, Daniel proclaimed that the 2008 deal was in "lame duck" status and that the brothers should discuss significant increases to Daniel's overall compensation (Ex 29), whether through increased ownership (Daniel proposed an extravagant 30 percent stock award (*id.*)) or increased cash compensation (Ex 35). In late 2012, Daniel at various times proposed and demanded compensation packages worth as much as \$5 million (at a time when the net profit of the company was approximately \$2 million). Ex 35; see RP 94:15-95:17 (5/31).

By 2013, any peace that had existed between the brothers was gone. Daniel's contemporaneous notes reveal that he came to view Lucas as a "cancer" to be "isolated." Ex 9. His notes showed that he viewed the 2008 agreements as "unfair" to him, but that he also believed the agreements gave him "a lot of power" and he intended to unilaterally use that power to "make the deal more fair to him." Ex 737 at 3.

Daniel did this in a few ways. First, he used the company coffers to bankroll his personal expenses. At trial, Daniel admitted to using the company credit card to fund tens of thousands of dollars of personal expenses (RP 200:3-7 (6/1)), including personal travel to see family (RP 155:8-159:14 (6/1)), personal yacht charters (RP 144:8-12 (6/1)), concerts with friends (RP 153:24-155:6 (6/1)), personal therapists (RP 157:25-

158:7 (6/1)), personal concierge health services (RP 157:1-9 (6/1)), personal bills for multiple personal attorneys (RP 148:8-149:16; 151:11-152:8 (6/1)), a home inspector (RP 146:24-148:7 (6/1)), towing charges for damages to a rental car on a personal vacation (RP 157:13-24 (6/1)), and much more.³

Second, Daniel triggered a massive stock award in his favor, which diluted Lucas's ownership interest and, in so doing, by the time of the trial, shifted more than \$4 million in Gravity Payments equity from Lucas to Daniel. As noted above, the Shareholders Agreement requires that, as a precondition to any stock award, there must be a "valuation" of Gravity by an appraiser to "determine fair market value" (*see* App. Br. at 11). Yet, the undisputed evidence at trial established that a "valuation" did not occur before Daniel approved issuance of a stock award to himself (*id.* at 16-19). It is also undisputed that Daniel has not returned the stock even though he is now aware that he received an improper windfall.

Third, Daniel increased his compensation over Lucas's objections. RP 282:7-21 (6/9); Ex. 229. Daniel did not respond to Lucas's protests with a dialogue, nor did he decrease his compensation. He simply continued to pay himself at the same elevated level he knew was

³ And, perhaps most tellingly, even *after* Lucas served the complaint, Daniel's pattern of billing the company for personal expenses without any reimbursement continued unabated. RP 502:13-503:1 (6/2).

objectionable. See RP 282:7-21 (6/9); RP 290:16-291:1 (6/9).

Daniel's conduct left Lucas with no option other than to seek recourse in the courts. On March 16, 2015, Lucas served Daniel with a complaint alleging that Daniel (1) breached fiduciary duties as director, executive, and shareholder (CP 3 ¶ 16), (2) breached the contracts governing the brothers' relations (CP 4 ¶ 20), and (3) oppressed Lucas's minority shareholder interest (CP 3 ¶ 12). The complaint sought direct monetary damages for all of the claims. CP 3-4. It also sought a form of equitable relief on the shareholder oppression claim—an order directing Daniel to buy out Lucas's minority interest at fair value. CP 4 ¶ 23; *see* Ex 335 at Att. 7. Lucas asked to have his complaint tried to a jury. CP 11. 6

⁴ Fourth, and equally significant, Daniel began openly antagonizing Lucas. In 2012, Daniel voted through a punitive cash call on the shareholders over Lucas's objections even as Daniel was increasing his own executive compensation. Ex 324. In late 2013, Lucas's contemporaneous notes indicate that Daniel said Lucas would never get any greater returns from Gravity Payments, nor would he get a liquidity event for his ownership stake, so Lucas's only option was to sell his stake to Daniel for a fraction of its value. Ex 322; RP 674:23-678:7, 679:25-680:6 (6/6). Unrebutted evidence also established that Daniel excluded Lucas from key management decisions in the ensuing years, including risky ventures for Gravity Payments. For example, though he found the time to discuss the issue with dozens of business associates and casual acquaintances, including celebrity Tyra Banks (see Ex 126), Daniel withheld from Lucas his decision to raise the minimum salary of Gravity employees to \$70,000 per year until one business day before the announcement, and he never responded to Lucas's requests for information about that major business decision. RP 291:11-292:22 (6/1); see Ex 127. At the same time, Daniel used company resources in his fight against Lucas (RP 806:14-17 (6/14); RP 475:14-476:16 (6/13)) and he openly (and erroneously) disparaged Lucas in public. E.g., Ex 148; compare CP 1737 with RP 25:14-30:17 (5/31).

⁵ Based on unrebutted expert appraisal testimony at trial, that buyout was valued at approximately \$26.4 million. *See id.*

⁶ Before trial, Daniel moved to summarily dismiss the breach of contract, breach of fiduciary duties, and equitable relief claims. CP 15. The trial court largely denied the motion, finding that Lucas had standing to directly allege a breach of duties and seek damages, and what relief the court granted to Daniel was insignificant. CP 325-26. The trial court dismissed Lucas's direct claim for breach of the Employment Contract, but since that contract is expressly incorporated by reference in the Shareholder's Agreement,

B. The Trial Court Erroneously and Unconstitutionally Strikes Lucas's Jury Demand

Just days before trial, Daniel moved to strike Lucas's jury demand. CP 11, 385. Lucas opposed Daniel's motion, explaining that (1) two of Lucas's three claims—breach of fiduciary duty and breach of contract—were purely legal claims, (2) the third claim—for minority shareholder oppression—sought a mixture of legal and equitable remedies, and (3) the equitable remedy for shareholder oppression—a fair market buyout of the minority interest—could efficiently be resolved by the trial court after the jury decided the damage claims. CP 368.

On the eve of trial, the trial court struck Lucas's jury demand ("Order Striking the Jury"). CP 679-81. To arrive at this unjust and unconstitutional result, the trial court made several plain legal errors. First, the trial court failed to recognize that Lucas still possessed significant breach of contract claims against Daniel because the Shareholder Agreement incorporated the duties in the Employment Agreement. App. 129-32. Second, the trial court mistakenly construed Lucas's breach of fiduciary duty claim as equitable rather than legal, contravening established precedent of this Court. *See Allard v. Pac. Nat. Bank*, 99 Wn.2d 394, 399, 663 P.2d 104 (1983); App. 129-32. Third, though it was

the dismissal was of no substantive consequence. Finally, the court dismissed the separate claim for equitable remedies, noting that such remedies could be obtained through Lucas's other claims. CP 326.

required to do so under *Brown*, the trial court failed to consider Lucas's position that the only purely equitable element of the lawsuit—the *remedy* of a forced buyout—could be resolved after the jury decided the legal claims. *See* App. 129-32.

C. The Trial Court Denies Lucas Any Relief Even Though the Undisputed Evidence and Some of the Trial Court's Own Findings of Fact Required Judgment for Lucas

Following a bench trial, the trial court made legal conclusions white-washing Daniel's conduct, which stand in jarring juxtaposition with the unrebutted facts developed at trial⁷ and some of the court's own inescapable factual findings.⁸ With respect to Daniel's personal expenses charged to the company, the court inexplicably concluded "Lucas Price has not proven" his claim that Daniel "sought the Company's payment of personal expenses" "by a preponderance of the evidence." App. 57, 75, 80. That conclusion is fundamentally at odds with Washington jurisprudence

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