FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 7/5/2018 3:25 PM BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

No. 95921-8

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

LUCAS PRICE,

Petitioner,

v.

DANIEL PRICE,

Respondent.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

OGDEN MURPHY WALLACE

P.L.L.C.

SMITH GOODFRIEND, P.S.

By: Paul J. Dayton

WSBA No. 12619

901 5th Avenue, Ste. 3500

Seattle WA 98164 (206) 447-7000

pdayton@omwlaw.com

By: Catherine W. Smith WSBA No. 9542

1619 8th Avenue North Seattle, WA 98109

(206) 624-0974

cate@washingtonappeals.com

Attorneys for Respondent

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

The Shareholders Agreement provides that "[i]f the Board achieves consensus, their consensus decision shall be the decision of the Board. If they are unable to reach consensus, then [Daniel] shall decide and control the management decision of the Board." (Ex. 11,

¶ 6.1.1) The agreement does not require either party to attempt to "achieve consensus." Lucas himself testified that the parties could not reach consensus on corporate governance after 2012. (RP 276)

"Preferring to maintain reasonable relations with Lucas," Daniel exercised his authority under the Shareholders Agreement to set his bonus compensation without Board consensus beginning in 2013. (FF 48, CP 915; 2 RP 282; RP 214) Daniel accepted the same \$800,000 bonus in 2013 as he had received in 2012 (when Lucas had agreed to the bonus), for total 2013 compensation of \$1.1 million.³ (FF 48, CP 915; 2 RP 282-84; Ex. 799) When Lucas once again refused to agree to a 2014 bonus, Daniel once again accepted an \$800,000 bonus, even though Gravity "had grown even more in 2013 and 2014 than in 2012 and the formulas discussed in connection with the 2012 bonus decision" would have suggested a higher bonus. (FF 20, CP 907, FF 48, CP 915; RP 217-18; 2 RP 166-67, 284; Exs. 31, 588-591, 728, 806) As a consequence, since 2013 Daniel has been paid a \$300,000 salary, and a bonus of \$800,000.

³ Even when a report both parties commissioned indicated a "target range" for Daniel's 2013 compensation would be \$1.4 million, Lucas as part of his strategy to force a buy-out proposed that Daniel's bonus be reduced to \$200,000 (a quarter of his agreed bonus the prior year), which would have reduced Daniel's total 2013 compensation to \$500,000. (FF 47, CP 914-15; 2 RP 280-82, 269, 696; Ex. 101, Ex. 655)

for total annual compensation of \$1.1 million. The Court of Appeals affirmed (Opinion 20) the finding "that Daniel's compensation decisions in 2013 and 2014 were a reasonable business judgment made in good faith." (FF 49, CP 915; 2 RP 288-91, 308, Ex. 799)

C. Why This Court Should Deny Review.

1. Division One's unpublished opinion affirming the trial court's discretion to deny a jury trial when an action is not purely legal does not conflict with *Brown*.

This Court confirmed the factors governing a trial court's "wide discretion" to decide whether a case should be tried to a jury or the court in *Brown v. Safeway Stores, Inc.*, 94 Wn.2d 359, 368, 617 P.2d 704 (1980):

(1) who seeks the equitable relief; (2) is the person seeking the equitable relief also demanding trial of the issues to the jury; (3) are the main issues primarily legal or equitable in their nature; (4) do the equitable issues present complexities in the trial which will affect the orderly determination of such issues by a jury; (5) are the equitable and legal issues easily separable; (6) in the exercise of such discretion, great weight should be given to the constitutional right of trial by jury and if the nature of the action is doubtful, a jury trial should be allowed; (7) the trial court should go beyond the pleadings to ascertain the real issues in dispute before making the determination as to whether or not a jury trial should be granted on all or part of such issues.

The Court of Appeals' unpublished opinion in this case does not conflict with *Brown* in concluding that the trial court did not abuse

its discretion when it clearly considered, and properly applied, the *Brown* factors in denying a jury trial, because "the centerpiece of the lawsuit was Lucas's minority oppression claim and request for a court-ordered buyout." (Opinion 5)

Contrary to petitioner's claim (Petition 14), neither the trial court nor the Court of Appeals relied on a "rudimentary comparison" of the "monetary value of the legal remedies and equitable remedy" in striking the jury demand. The trial court carefully followed *Brown* in evaluating petitioner's jury demand, as did the Court of Appeals in examining the trial court's exercise of its discretion, which contrary to petitioner's hyperbolic claim the courts below did not consider "unreviewable." (Petition 14, n.9)4

Instead, the courts below correctly recognized that petitioner demanded a jury even though the claims he made and the relief he

⁴ Knocking down a straw man position that has never been taken in this case, petitioner cites a law review article for the proposition that "Brown starkly diverges from" a view that a trial court has "broad, unreviewable discretion" in striking a jury demand. The cited article merely identifies Washington's analysis as "open-ended" and quotes Brown for the proposition that the trial court has "wide discretion in cases involving both legal and equitable issues, to allow a jury on some, none, or all issues presented." Hamilton, Federalism and the State Civil Jury Rights, 65 Stan. L. Rev. 851, 880, 900 (2013) (concluding that in Washington, "[w]hen there are mixed issues of law and equity, the trial court has wide discretion to determine whether the action is primarily legal or equitable.") (cited Petition 14, n.9).

sought were primarily equitable,⁵ all his claims and requested relief were based on the same set of facts and so interrelated they could not be easily separated, and the equitable issues present complexities that would affect the orderly determination of legal issues by a jury. The Court of Appeals' unpublished decision that the trial court, fully familiar with the contours of the case, did not abuse its discretion in striking the jury demand does not conflict with *Brown*, which in no way "directs the trial court to seat a jury" if "it is possible to empanel a jury, even on 'part' of the action." (Petition 14)

Nor do the intermediate appellate court cases petitioner cites (Petition 15-16) compel trial by a jury. Each of those cases consider claims arising solely in contract or in tort, seeking only money

⁵ Petitioner misconstrues the Court of Appeals' reference to Allard v. Pacific National Bank, 99 Wn.2d 394, 400, 663 P.2d 104 (1983) in discussing his expense recovery claim (Fact § B.3, supra at 5-6) to argue that his claim for breach of fiduciary duty was legal in nature. (Petition 12, citing Opinion 5) This Court in Allard distinguished between recovery due an individual trust beneficiary and sums due to the trust, holding that the latter sounds in equity. Applied here, as argued *infra* at 12-13, petitioner's "direct" claim sought recovery of expense reimbursement owned by the company, not Lucas. The Court of Appeals clearly and correctly recognized the equitable nature of petitioner's minority oppression claim and his demand for an accounting and court-ordered buy-out. (Opinion 5-6) Further, this Court affirmed the trial court's denial of a jury trial to plaintiff trust beneficiaries, recognizing that "[i]n determining whether a case is primarily equitable or legal in nature, the trial court is accorded wide discretion, the exercise of which will not be disturbed except for clear abuse," in Allard, 99 Wn.2d at 400, citing Brown, 94 Wn.2d at 368; Pollock v. Ralston, 5 Wn.2d 36, 44, 104 P.2d 934 (1940).

damages. Auburn Mech., Inc. v. Lydig Const., Inc., 89 Wn. App. 893, 951 P.2d 311, rev. denied, 136 Wn.2d 1009 (1998) (claim for extra work on construction contract); Kelly v. Foster, 62 Wn. App. 150, 813 P.2d 598, rev. denied, 118 Wn.2d 1001 (1991) (legal malpractice); Dep't of Nat. Resources v. Littlejohn Logging, Inc., 60 Wn. App. 671, 806 P.2d 779 (1991) (negligence claim); S.P.C.S., Inc. v. Lockheed Shipbuilding & Const. Co., 29 Wn. App. 930, 631 P.2d 999, rev. denied, 96 Wn.2d 1019 (1981) (construction contract).

Indeed, petitioner's claim that "the requested remedy determines whether the action requires a jury" (Petition 15 n.10, emphasis in original) defeats his argument for acceptance of review. Here, petitioner sought mandatory injunctive relief - his primary demand was not for damages, but for a court-ordered, \$26-million buyout. See Henry George & Sons, Inc. v. Cooper-George, Inc., 95 Wn.2d 944, 948-53, 632 P.2d 512 (1981) (discussed Resp. Br. 53, 56). Further, petitioner's direct action claim for "damages" supposedly caused by respondent's breach of fiduciary duties depended upon a theory that if recovery was instead awarded to the corporation, "then a court of equity will look beyond the corporation and award the recovery to the individual stockholders entitled thereto." Interlake Porsche & Audi, Inc. v. Bucholz, 45 Wn. App. 502, 520, 728 P.2d 597

(1986) (emphasis added), citing *Joyce v. Congdon*, 114 Wash. 239, 243, 195 P. 29 (1921), *rev. denied*, 107 Wn.2d 1022 (1987).

Inconsistently, petitioner also claims that the legal nature of his claims compelled a jury trial regardless of the remedy requested. Far from "affirming" petitioner brought a "direct, personal claim" legal in nature that "should be decided by a jury" (Petition 16, emphasis in original), the trial court allowed petitioner to seek relief directly against respondent even though his "direct" claim was not supported by Washington law. (CP 325-26) Petitioner convinced the trial court that he should be able to sue petitioner directly because the company was closely held, but in arguing against summary judgment on these "direct" claims he expressly acknowledged that the theory allowing such a direct action is "equity-based." (4/1/16 RP 28, 31: "with respect to equitable relief, in a minority shareholder oppression case the cases have made clear, equitable relief is an important component. It gives the court all sorts of authority to address the problem.")

Finally, even if it was "possible" for "part" of the action to be tried to a jury (Petition 16), that does not mean petitioner had a right to jury trial. Instead, as the Court of Appeals correctly recognized (Opinion 7), the trial court had "wide discretion" to strike his jury

demand after consideration of the *Brown* factors. Division One's unpublished decision affirming the trial court's reasoned exercise of its discretion to deny a jury trial does not conflict with *Brown*, and presents no grounds for further review under RAP 13.4(b)(1).

2. This is not the case in which to consider whether to "revise" the *Brown* test based on federal law, as the petition for review for the first time proposes.

The petition for review for the first time proposes that the Court rule in this case that a litigant "is entitled to have all factual issues raised by the legal aspects of a case tried to a jury." (Petition 18, citing Dairy Queen, Inc. v. Wood, 369 U.S. 469 (1962); Beacon Theatres, Inc. v. Westover, 359 U.S. 500 (1959)). Arguing that he was entitled to a jury trial on the factual bases for his claims even though he sought equitable relief, petitioner assures the Court that "adopting the federal approach" would not make "wholesale revision of the Brown test... necessary." (Petition 18, n.14) To the contrary, petitioner proposes a drastic revision of Washington law, unbriefed in this case and uncontemplated in this Court's jurisprudence.

Petitioner has never before argued that his demand for a jury trial should not be considered under the *Brown* factors that guide our courts' analysis under the Washington constitution, and that this Court should instead adopt federal law governing the right to jury trial under the Seventh Amendment of the U.S. Constitution. For this reason alone, the Court should decline his invitation to "adopt" a new rule governing the right to jury trial that has not been briefed or considered in the courts below. *Buchsieb/Danard, Inc. v. Skagit Cty.*, 99 Wn.2d 577, 581, 663 P.2d 487 (1983) ("issues not raised at the trial court or the Court of Appeals cannot be raised for the first time before the Supreme Court."); *Wilson v. Steinbach*, 98 Wn.2d 434, 440, 656 P.2d 1030 (1981); *Peoples Nat'l Bank v. Peterson*, 82 Wn.2d 822, 829-30, 514 P.2d 159 (1973).

Even had the parties briefed, or either of the courts below addressed it, petitioner's proposal that the Washington courts abandon *Brown* is ill-advised. In analyzing the right to jury trial under the Washington constitution this Court in *Brown* cited neither *Dairy Queen* nor *Beacon*, which had been decided 20 years earlier when *Brown* was decided. Since *Brown* was decided, the Washington courts have never cited *Dairy Queen*; *Beacon* has been cited in the appellate courts only twice, and never for the proposition that federal law governs or even informs the Washington courts' analysis of the right to jury trial. *See Kim v. Lee*, 145 Wn.2d 79, 88, 31 P.3d 665 (2001) (discussing doctrine of equitable subrogation); *Auburn Mechanical*, 89 Wn. App. at 897, n.5 ("look[ing] only to our

own constitution" in holding jury trial should have been granted on a "purely legal" contractual claim for money damages).

The *Brown* analysis has served the Washington courts well, guiding the trial courts' discretion and the appellate courts' review, with no confusion or call that the standard be changed, for almost 40 years. *See, e.g., Waltz v. Tanager Estates Homeowner's Ass'n*, 183 Wn. App. 85, 90, ¶¶ 40-47, 332 P.3d 1133 (2014); *Stieneke v. Russi*, 145 Wn. App. 544, 569, ¶¶ 46-50, 190 P.3d 60 (2008), *rev. denied*, 165 Wn.2d 1026 (2009); *Kim v. Dean*, 133 Wn. App. 338, 341, ¶¶ 7-19, 135 P.3d 978 (2006). Petitioner presents no reason to revisit, much less "revise," the *Brown* factors now.

This Court recognized in *Davis v. Cox*, 183 Wn.2d 269, 289, ¶30, 351 P.3d 862 (2015) that the right to jury trial is not "limitless," and analyzed statutes invading the jury's right to determine purely legal tort damages exclusively under the Washington constitution in *Sofie v. Fibreboard Corp.*, 112 Wn.2d 636, 644, 771 P.2d 711 (1989) (both cited Petition 17). Petitioner particularly misplaces his reliance on *Sitton v. State Farm Mut. Auto. Ins. Co.*, 116 Wn. App. 245, 259, 63 P.3d 198 (2003) (Petition 17, n.12), which *rejected* an insurer's claim that bifurcating a class action trial would violate its right to jury trial. This Court should decline petitioner's belated invitation to

consider a new "test" for analyzing the right to jury trial, never briefed by the parties or decided in the courts below, which presents no grounds for review under RAP 13.4(b)(3) or (4).

3. Division One's unpublished opinion affirming the trial court's rejection of petitioner's claims after trial does not conflict with any decisions of this Court or the Court of Appeals.

Petitioner claims that "established precedent" is inconsistent with the Court of Appeals' unpublished decision affirming the trial court's findings that petitioner had proven neither respondent's breach of fiduciary duties nor damages, but cites not a single case in support of that proposition. Petitioner's argument for review is not remotely supported by either Safeco Ins. Co. of Am. v. Butler, 118 Wn.2d 383, 823 P.2d 499 (1992) (discussing the enhanced duties of an insurer to its insured) or Kane v. Klos, 50 Wn.2d 778, 783, 314 P.2d 672 (1957) (where a defendant the trial court found as a matter of fact to be "a person of amoral character and . . . without a sense of moral responsibility" issued stock to himself based on a "secret profit" of corporate assets, financed by and without notice to the other "aged shareholder") (both cited Petition 20). See Kelly v. Foster, 62 Wn. App. at 157 (Klos "has no value as a precedent except to state the rule that one can forfeit all right to compensation by engaging in egregious fraudulent conduct.").

Petitioner has neither identified nor discussed any case in conflict with the Court of Appeals' unpublished decision affirming the trial court's findings that he had failed to prove any damages as a result of petitioner's exercise of his rights under the parties' agreements, and presents no grounds for review under RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (2).

4. This Court should award respondent his fees for answering the petition.

As in the trial court and in the Court of Appeals (Op. 25, relying on Ex. 11, ¶ 7.14), respondent is entitled to his fees incurred in this Court answering the petition for review. RAP 18.1(j).

D. Conclusion.

This Court should deny review of the Court of Appeals' unpublished opinion and award respondent his fees for answering the petition.